A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Pursuant to RAP 13 .4, Petitioner Kevin Mag era asks this Court 

to accept review of the opinion of the Court of Appeals in In re the 

Detention of Magera, 70129-1-II. 

B. OPINION BELOW 

Inln re the Detention ofYoung, 122 Wn.2d 1, 857 P.2d 989 

(1993), this Court held the 71.09 RCW is not intended to address or 

hold a person accountable for past crimes. Despite the State urged the 

jury to commit Mr. Magera because he had not taken responsibility for 

his past crimes. Despite Young, the Court of Appeals concluded such 

argument was not improper. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED 

1. A defendant has the right to a fair trial protected by due 

process, free from prosecutorial misconduct. In a commitment trial it is 

improper for the State to argue the purpose of the proceeding is to 

punish the respondent or otherwise to address his past crimes. Where 

the State urged the jury to hold Mr. Magera accountable for his past 

crimes were the state's comments improper? 
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2. It is improper for a prosecutor to make arguments which seek 

to appeal to jurors' passions and prejudices. Where the State made such 

arguments were the State's comments improper? 

D. STATEMENTOFTHECASE 

As a child, Mr. Magera was subjected to regular sexual abuse, 

first by his father beginning at age 4 or 5. CP 56-60. He reported the 

abuse to his stepfather, who in turn began sexually abusing him. CP 57-

58. Additionally, a friend of his stepfather began sexually abusing him 

as well. Id. 

By the age of 7 he was removed from his family home to live in 

a series of foster care placements. CP 66. Robbed of his own innocence 

and as a product of his abuse, he too acted out sexually with others 

around him, including siblings and other children. CP 69, 75-77. His 

foster placements often involved living with other youths from similar 

backgrounds who were also conditioned to inappropriate sexual 

behavior. Thus, his time in foster care was punctuated by repeated 

instances of sexual activity with other children. CP 80-85. As is too 

often the case, ultimately his foster care led to his graduation to 

placement in the Juvenile Rehabilitation Administration. CP 72. 

2 



Back in the community as a young adult, Mr. Magera was 

convicted of three offenses for molesting 2 children who were 5 and 6 

at the time of the offenses. Exhibit 14. Mr .. Magera was sentenced to 

about 11 years in prison. !d. While in prison Mr. Magera was evaluated 

by Dr. John Hupka CP 76. Dr. Hupka diagnosed Mr. Magera with 

pedophilia as well as personality disorder not otherwise specified 

(NOS). 

Immediately before Mr. Magera's completion of his sentence 

the State filed a petition alleging Mr. Magera should be committed 

- under-RGW 7 h09 ;- --- - -

At trial, Dr. Hupka opined Mr. Magera's pedophilia made him 

likely to commit new sexual offenses if not committed. 3RP 181. 

A jury found Mr. Magera met the criteria for commitment. CP 

95. 

E. ARGUMENT 

Flagrant misconduct by the Assistant Attorney 
General deprived Mr. Magera of a fair trial. 

A prosecuting attorney is the representative of the sovereign and 

the community; therefore it is the prosecutor's duty to see that justice is 

done. Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 55 S. Ct. 629, 79 L. Ed. 

1314 ( 193 5). A prosecutor is a quasi-judicial officer whose duty is to 
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ensure each defendant receives a fair trial. State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 

667, 676, 257 P .3d 551 (20 11 ). This duty includes an obligation to 

prosecute a defendant impartially and to seek a verdict free from 

prejudice and based upon reason. State v. Charlton, 90 Wn.2d 657, 664, 

585 P.2d 142 (1978). 

Even where a defendant does not object in the trial court to 

improper acts by the prosecutor, this Court may review them where 

they are flagrant and ill-intentioned. State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 

747, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). That is the case here. 

Both this Court and United States Supreme Court have accepted 

the notion that indefinite confinement under statutes such as RCW 

71.09 is civil rather than criminal in nature. Each court has found such 

statutes focus on treatment, a civil aim, rather than punishment, 

retribution or other aims of criminal statutes. In Young, this Court said: 

The sexually violent predator statute is not concerned 
with the criminal culpability of petitioners' past actions. 
Instead, it is focused on treating petitioners for a current 
mental abnormality, and protecting society from the 
sexually violent acts associated with that abnormality. 

122 Wn.2d at 22 Yet that is precisely the argument the State presented 

to the jury. The State told the jury: 
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We need to see Mr. Magera taking accountability for his 
actions. Pleading guilty and avoiding trial is not taking 
accountability. 

5RP 17. 

As an initial matter, admitting one's guilt to serious felonies 

seems to be the very defmition of accountability. In any event, the 

Court of Appeals has previously held that this sort of argument is 

improper. In In re the Detention ofGaffthe State argued that indefinite 

confinement under RCW 71.09 was a "tool" the jury could use to 

address previously imposed sentences which had been too lenient. 90 

Wn. App. 834, 842, 954 P.2d 943 (1998). This Court said 

to the extent the prosecutor suggested that this "tool" of 
civil commitment should be invoked to impose further 
punishment, the argument would clearly constitute 
misconduct because the purpose of the Community 
Protection Act is not to impose punishment but to 
provide treatment and to protect the public. Any 
argument for further punishment raises substantive due 
process and ex post facto issues. 

Id. at 842-43 (citing Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346, 117 S.Ct. 

2072, 138 L.Ed.2d 501 (1997); Young, 122 Wn.2d 1). The same is true 

here. 

Mr. Magera was held accountable for his past acts by way of his 

guilty plea and conviction for three counts, and his resulting sentence 

of 11 years in prison. The jurors' task in this case was not to determine 
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whether that was sufficient punishment for his acts. Young, 122 Wn.2d 

at 22; Gaff, 90 Wn. App. at 842-43. Rather, the jury's focus was 

determining whether to commit Mr. Magera for treatment of his current 

condition. !d. The State's argument was a flagrant misstatement of the 

law. 

The opinion of the Court of Appeals excuses the State's actions, 

framing them as arguing Mr. Magera poses a risk to reoffend because 

he has not taken responsibility for his actions. Opinion at 4. First, that 

is not what the assistant attorney general argued. 5RP 17. And again, 

pleading guilty is by defmition taking responsibility. The prosecutor 

plainly urged the jury to view commitment as a means to hold Mr. 

Magera accountable for based acts and crimes. That is contrary to this 

Court's decision in Young and the Court of Appeals's own opinion in 

Gaff. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4. But the State 

went further. 

It is improper for the State to employ in its arguments to the jury 

inflammatory comments which are a deliberate appeal to the passions 

and prejudices of the jury. State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 507-08, 

755 P.2d 174 (1988). Such arguments are improper for the added 

reason that they so often rely on matters outside the evidence. State v . 
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Pierce, 169 Wn. App. 533, 553, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012). Here, the 

assistant attorney general made such flagrant and prejudicial comments. 

In its rebuttal argument, the State said: 

You imagine a Kindergartener, a five or six-year-old. 
You see a little person whose innocent, bushy tailed, 
wide eyed dwarfed by the fifth and sixth graders that go 
to the same elementary school. You feel the need, the 
desire, to protect this little child, to nurture them, to 
shield them from bad things. You talk to a Kindergartner 
about their favorite Disney princes or their latest Lego 
creation. That's what you do. Mr. Magera sees a 
Kindergartner and sees a potential victim. 

6RP 55-56. 

The State's inflammatory argument relied upon matters not in 

evidence. The argument was a purposeful effort to stoke the jurors' 

basest fears and prejudices. The State's argument was improper. But 

the Court of Appeals concluded there was nothing improper with this 

argument. Opinion at 4-5. 

The State's comments were not inadvertent or comments on a 

collateral issue. Rather, the State's misstatement of the law went to the 

central issue at stake in this case. The State urged the jury to resolve the 

issues by resort to improper punitive aims, and to do so only after the 

State purposefully appealed to the jury's passion and prejudices. The 
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State's improper comments warrant reversal. This Court should accept 

review. 

F. CONCLUSION 

The assistant attorney general's misconduct deprived Mr. 

Magera of a fair trial. For the reasons above, this Court should accept 

review under RAP 13 .4.