RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Sep 24, 2014, 3:28 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

NO. 90725-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of Kevin Magera:

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

KEVIN MAGERA,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JAMES BUDER Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 36659, OID No. 91094 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6430

I.	INTRODUCTION				
II.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1				
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE	2			
	A. Procedural Facts	2			
	B. Sexually Violent Predator Trial	3			
	1. Magera's Offense History	3			
	2. Dr. Hupka's Trial Testimony	7			
	3. Closing Argument	9			
IV.	ARGUMENT	10			
	The Court Of Appeals Used Well-Settled Law In Requiring Magera To Demonstrate Both Improper Conduct And Prejudicial Effect On Review11				
	B. Magera's Lack Of Accountability Is Evidence Of Poor Treatment Progress And High Risk For Future Offense13				
	C. The State's Rebuttal Arguments Were Based On The Evidence Presented At Trial.	17			
V.	CONCLUSION20				

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

In re Gaff, 90 Wn. App. 834, 954 P.2d 943 (1998)
In re Law, 146 Wn. App. 28, 204 P.3d 230 (2008)
In re Young, 122 Wn.2d 1, 857 P.2d 989 (1993)16
State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 755 P.2d 174 (1988)18, 19
State v. Kendrick, 47 Wn. App. 620, 736 P.2d 1079 (1987)
State v. McKenzie, 157 Wn.2d 44, 134 P.3d 221 (2006)11
State v. Millante, 80 Wn. App. 237, 908 P.2d 374 (1995)
State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 471, 14 P.3d 717 (2000)11
State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 882 P.2d 747 (1994)12
State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 790 P.2d 610 (1990)12
<u>Statutes</u>
RCW 71.09
Rules
RAP 13.4(b)

I. INTRODUCTION

For a claim of prosecutorial misconduct to stand, well-settled law establishes that both improper conduct and prejudicial effect must be demonstrated. Kevin Magera claims that such conduct occurred during the closing argument of his 2013 sexually violent predator trial, despite failing to object to any of the alleged improper arguments. The Court of Appeals rejected his claims using the established standard for assessing prosecutorial misconduct. The Court found that the State's closing arguments were not improper and were amply supported by the record.

Mr. Magera seeks review of this decision. Because his case does not meet any of the criteria for review set forth in RAP 13.4(b), this Court should deny review. Even if his Motion merited review by this Court, Magera cannot establish any impropriety from the closing arguments made at his trial.

II. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This Court should deny review because the decision below does not meet any of the RAP 13.4(b) criteria. The State does not seek review of any issue; however, if the Court were to accept review, the following issues would be presented:

¹ A copy of the "Unpublished Decision" filed by the Court of Appeals on July 28, 2014, is attached as Exhibit A.

Whether the State engaged in prosecutorial misconduct during closing argument, where: (1) Magera failed to object to the comments he claims were flagrant and ill-intentioned; (2) the arguments were based on evidence presented to the jury; and (3) even if the comments were improper, no prejudice has been demonstrated.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural Facts

In January 2011, the State filed a sexually violent predator (SVP) petition seeking the civil commitment of Magera pursuant to RCW 71.09. CP 826. When the petition was filed, Magera was in the custody of the Department of Corrections (DOC), and was scheduled to be released into the community. CP 828. A few months later, the trial court entered an order determining that probable cause existed to believe Magera was an SVP. CP 873. Pursuant to this order, Magera was transported to the Special Commitment Center (SCC) on McNeil Island. *Id*.

A jury trial on the petition began on February 25, 2013. Ten days later, the jury returned a verdict finding that Magera was an SVP. CP 6. On the same day, the trial court entered an Order of Commitment. CP 4. On March 29, 2013, Magera filed a Notice of Appeal. CP 2. On July 28, 2014, the Court of Appeals affirmed Magera's civil commitment. Ex. A.

B. Sexually Violent Predator Trial

1. Magera's Offense History

Magera has stated that if it were not against the law, he would have sex with children often and exclusively. CP 372-373.² He was born on January 13, 1977, and since a young age has sexually victimized at least ten children. CP 41, 371.³ While he has had many sex offender treatment attempts, he has been discouraged by his inability to control his sexual thoughts and feelings towards children. CP 375.

From ages five to eight, Magera himself was the victim of sexual abuse by his biological father, a stepfather, and one of his stepfather's friends. 2RP 132. At age seven, Child Protective Services removed him from his home. CP 65. He continued as a ward of the State until age 19. CP 66. As a ward of the State, he was moved from placement to placement frequently due to his temper and sexual acting-out with other residents at each placement. CP 71.

Magera's first sexual assault victim was his sister, M.M. CP 75. The sexual abuse began when M.M. was four years old and Magera was eight. 2RP 130. The sexual assaults of his sister included pulling her

² Portions of the February 11, 2013, deposition of Paul Martin were published to the jury. 2RP 149, Ex 61, CP 362-394.

³ Portions of the January 31, 2013, and February 14, 2013, depositions of Magera were published to the jury. 2RP 162, 165, 173; 3RP 5-7; Ex. 62; CP 33-154, 286-322.

pants down and looking at her nude, rubbing his penis between her buttocks, and fondling her vagina. CP 76-77.

At around age ten or eleven, Magera victimized a girl in his special education class. CP 70-71, 2RP 130. In secluded area, he would coerce her into playing sexual games. 2RP 130-131. These games included fondling of the girl's genitals and anal intercourse. 2RP 131.

In July 1990, Magera was convicted of Assault 4. CP 81, Ex. 1-3. He assaulted a nine-year-old boy, named L.W. 2RP 144. About two weeks after L.W. arrived at the facility, Magera rubbed his penis against L.W.'s buttocks and stroked the young boy's penis. 2RP 129-130.

After his conviction, Magera was moved to another placement, where he engaged in mutual genital fondling with another 13-year-old resident. CP 87-88. He also massaged the buttocks of another 12-year-old resident. *Id.* After being sent to another group home, Magera was convicted of Assault 4 with sexual motivation for assaulting a staff member. CP 89-90, Ex. 4-5. He was sent to Echo Glen, a Juvenile Rehabilitation Agency facility, in 1991 pursuant to this conviction, where he continued acting out sexually. CP 89-90, 93.

Magera was released from Echo Glen to a group home on the Spokane area. CP 98-99. At this facility, he continued his inappropriate sexual behaviors. CP 100-101. For example, he performed oral sex on

anther male resident. *Id.* He was removed from this group home for his sexual conduct. CP 102.

Now 16 years-old, Magera was placed into yet another group home. CP 103. At this placement, he was charged with Assault 4 and Indecent Exposure for sexual misconduct with a male resident at the home. CP 108, Ex. 10-12. He was sent to Green Hill School, another Juvenile Rehabilitation Agency facility after this conviction. CP 108. There, Magera participated in further sex offender treatment. CP 110. When he was released in 1994, he did not believe he would commit any further sex offenses. CP 108, 112. His parole ended in late 1994, but Magera continued sex offender treatment until age 19. CP 115-116.

In 1999, Magera crossed paths with an ex-girlfriend while he was working as a children's ride operator at an amusement park in Seattle. CP 122-123. He eventually became the live-in babysitter for his ex-girlfriend's young children. CP 126. E.M. was the older of the two children as a five-year-old kindergartener. 2RP 116. Magera began sexually abusing E.M. after about a week of moving in to babysit her. CP 127. Magera had previously been babysitting for someone else in a similar situation, but had been told to leave by the mother of the children. 3RP 103.

Magera's offenses against E.M. were extensive. He would use the term "fun fun" with E.M. as a way of communicating to her that he wanted to have sex with her. CP 127. He had names for each of the sexual acts he performed on E.M. He called vaginal oral sex "lick lick." CP 128. "Front front" involved E.M. lying naked on top of Magera while he was nude from the waist down. CP 128-130. He would then place his penis between her vaginal lips and rub her back and forth on top of him until he ejaculated. *Id.* When Magera ejaculated onto E.M., it was called "wet wet." 2RP 118. "Butt butt" was similar to "front front," but Magera would place his penis between E.M.'s buttocks. CP 130.

The sexual assaults of E.M. occurred approximately three to four times per day over a six-month period. CM 130-132, 2RP 119. Magera convinced E.M. that they were in love, that people who were in love did these kinds of things together, and that one day they would run away and get married. 2RP 120. He told her that if she ever told anyone about "fun fun" that he would go away and they could never get married. 2RP 121.

Magera also sexually assaulted a male playmate from E.M.'s kindergarten class named J.B. 2RP 122. Magera exposed himself to J.B. during the child's bath time and fondled the boy's penis while he was sleeping over. CP 140. Magera also made attempts to have J.B. and E.M engage in sexual activity together while he observed them. 2RP 123.

In 2000, Magera was convicted of Rape of a Child in the First Degree and two counts of Child Molestation in the First Degree for his offenses against E.M. and J.B. CP 138, Ex. 13-16.

2. Dr. Hupka's Trial Testimony

The State presented expert testimony from licensed psychologist Dr. John Hupka at the commitment trial. 3RP 68 - 5RP 51. Dr. Hupka has over 15 years of experience evaluating sex offenders and has conducted SVP evaluations since 1996. 3RP 72-73.

Dr. Hupka conducted an SVP evaluation of Magera in 2009 for the Department of Corrections. 3RP 76. He updated that evaluation in 2013. 3RP 77. For his evaluations Dr. Hupka interviewed Magera and reviewed multiple documents related to Magera, including police reports, psychological evaluations, and confinement records. 3RP 77-78, 81.

Dr. Hupka found that Magera had an established pattern of sexual attraction to children aged six to twelve, and a pattern of no control or no willingness to control his sexually violent behavior. 3RP 110. He assigned Magera a primary diagnosis of a sexual disorder: pedophilia. 3RP 116. Dr. Hupka also diagnosed Magera with a personality disorder that complicated his pedophilia. *Id.* Pedophilia involves a chronic sexual attraction to children. 3RP 115-117. The personality disorder includes antisocial and narcissistic characteristics. 3RP 136.

Magera's pedophilia and personality disorder each impair his emotional and volitional capacity. 3RP 137-140. Dr. Hupka opined that Magera's condition predisposes him to the commission of criminal sexual acts due to his inability to contain his sexual attraction to children to fantasy. 3RP 140. This condition constituted a mental abnormality for Magera, an opinion Dr. Hupka held to a reasonable degree of psychological certainty. 3RP 141.

Dr. Hupka also testified that Magera's mental abnormality made him likely to engage in acts of future sexual violence. 3RP 144. Using a generally accepted risk assessment method, Dr. Hupka determined this likelihood by examining actuarial data, dynamic risk factors, Magera's clinical issues, and protective factors. 3RP 147-148.

Actuarial data provided Dr. Hupka with a starting point in his risk assessment by indicating Magera was at higher risk for re-offense than other sex offenders. 3RP 165-166. Dynamic risk factors are individual and changeable risk factors that are addressed in sex offender treatment. 3RP 166. Assessment of Magera's dynamic risk revealed deficiencies, including intimacy issues, poor social support, and poor sexual regulation. 3RP 171. Clinical factors, such as Magera's mental disorders are an additional risk factor indicative of high risk for re-offense. 3RP 172-173. Protective factors, such as sex offender treatment completion and a

supportive release environment can mitigate an offender's risk. 3RP 174, 178. Dr. Hupka opined that Magera's treatment acumen was worsening over time and that his proposed release environment was inadequate. 3RP 177-180. He concluded that Magera could not be safely released into the community. 3RP 182.

3. Closing Argument

During closing argument, the State highlighted the risk for re-offense Mr. Magera poses as a result of his mental abnormality and lack of treatment. For example, the State argued that Mr. Magera's inability to acknowledge his sexual attraction to children amounted to a profound lack of insight into why he offended:

We need to see Mr. Magera taking accountability for his actions. Pleading guilty and avoiding trial is not taking accountability. Not all those who suffer the terrible abuse that Mr. Magera suffered end up being pedophiles or else it would be a risk factor that Dr. Hupka and other practitioners in this field consider. There's something else here that needs to be acknowledged by Mr. Magera that he was partially able to acknowledge in 2009 and is not able to acknowledge right now.

6RP 17-18. By attributing his offending behavior to his own victimization, Magara failed to take accountability for his own role in his offending. *Id*.

Magera denied suffering from pedophilia or a mental abnormality in his closing argument. 6RP 30, 38, 39, 41. The State rebutted this

argument with a clear example of how Magera's sexual response to children affected his emotional and volitional controls:

So, we have this likelihood [of risk to reoffend] because of a mental disorder. And we know that it's a mental disorder that gives him serious difficulty controlling himself. You imagine a kindergartner, a five or six year-old. You see a little person who's innocent, bushy tailed, wide eyed, dwarfed by the fifth and sixth graders that go to the same elementary school. You feel the need, the desire, to protect this little child, to nurture them, to shield them from bad things. You talk to a kindergartner about their favorite Disney princess or their latest Lego creation. That's what you do. Mr. Magera sees a kindergartner and sees a potential sexual partner. Mr. Magera sees a kindergartner and feels sexual urges. He gets aroused. He gets and maintains an erection. Mr. Magera talks to a kindergartner about fun-fun and it being our little secret, because if people found out, they wouldn't understand. Five and six year-olds gave him an erection. Ladies and gentlemen, that is not a normal response. That is mentally abnormal.

6RP 55-56. Magera filed to object to any arguments the State made in closing or rebuttal.

IV. ARGUMENT

Magera argues that the State engaged in "flagrant and ill-intentioned" misconduct during closing arguments at trial. Petition at 4. He is incorrect. As a preliminary matter, Magera failed to object to any of the alleged misconduct and must demonstrate on appeal that no curative instruction from the trial court could have remedied any impropriety. Further, his argument that the State urged the jury to punish

Magera and sought to appeal to the jury's passions and prejudices are without merit.

The State's arguments were based on the record presented to the jury and were not misconduct. Even if any of the State's comments were improper, Magera does not demonstrate prejudice. Magera's Petition fails to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals decision below conflicts with a decision of this Court, or any other rationale that merits review under RAP 13.4(b). As such, his arguments must be rejected and the ruling of the Court of Appeals should be affirmed.

A. The Court Of Appeals Used Well-Settled Law In Requiring Magera To Demonstrate Both Improper Conduct And Prejudicial Effect On Review.

At trial, Magera did not object to any of the conduct now identified as flagrant, ill-intentioned, and prejudicial. Petition at 4, 7. To prevail on a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, one "must show both improper conduct and prejudicial effect." *State v. Roberts*, 142 Wn.2d 471, 533, 14 P.3d 717 (2000). "A defendant claiming prosecutorial misconduct bears the burden of establishing the impropriety of the prosecuting attorney's comments and their prejudicial effect." *State v. McKenzie*, 157 Wn.2d 44, 52, 134 P.3d 221 (2006).

Failure to request a curative instruction or move for a mistrial "strongly suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not

appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of the trial." In re Law, 146 Wn. App. 28, 51, 204 P.3d 230 (2008) (citing State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990)). In those circumstances "where the defense attorney does not object, move for a mistrial, or request a curative instruction, appellate review is only appropriate if the prosecutorial misconduct is so flagrant and ill-intentioned that no curative instruction could have obviated the prejudice they engendered by the misconduct." State v. Kendrick, 47 Wn. App. 620, 638, 736 P.2d 1079 (1987). Magera fails to meet this standard.

In closing argument, a prosecutor is afforded wide latitude in drawing and expressing reasonable inferences from the evidence. *State v. Millante*, 80 Wn. App. 237, 250, 908 P.2d 374 (1995). When reviewing a prosecutor's closing remarks, the court must look at "the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence, and the instructions provided by the trial court." *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85-86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). Because all of the State's arguments were based on the evidence and law presented to the jury, Magera's claim of misconduct was properly rejected by the Court of Appeals.

B. Magera's Lack Of Accountability Is Evidence Of Poor Treatment Progress And High Risk For Future Offense.

Assuming for the sake of argument that Magera could meet the standard for reviewing his claim of error issue despite not objecting at trial, he cannot establish prosecutorial error. Magera argues that in closing argument, the State "plainly urged the jury to view commitment as the means to hold Magera accountable for based [sic] acts and crimes." Petition at 6. That is incorrect. In the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, and the evidence, it is clear that the comments made by the State related to Magera's risk for re-offense.⁴

One component of Dr. Hupka's risk assessment of Magera examined protective factors, or factors that might reduce an individual's risk for re-offense. 3RP at 147. Completion of sex offender treatment was one of the protective factors he considered. 3RP 174. Dr. Hupka testified that Magera had not participated in any sex offender treatment for three years at the time of trial. 3RP 176. From the time Dr. Hupka interviewed Magera in 2009 until his most recent interview in 2013, any treatment benefits had "largely gone by the wayside." *Id*.

⁴ See Ex. A at 4 ("Taken in context, the prosecutor's argument suggests that Magera lacks insight into his offending behavior and that, as a result, there is a strong likelihood that he will reoffend if released.")

Since 2009, when Magera had finished the sex offender treatment program at the Twin Rivers Correctional Center, Dr. Hupka opined that he had "essentially backpedaled" in terms of his treatment. *Id.* In his 2013 interview with Dr. Hupka, Magera was unaware how his sex offenses affected his child victims, was less willing to discuss his sexually deviant attraction to children, and could not recall risk factors he had previously identified for himself to avoid re-offending. 3RP 177-178.

During closing argument, the State highlighted for the jury other evidence that supported Dr. Hupka's opinion. 6RP 16. This evidence demonstrated several areas where Magera's treatment knowledge was particularly lacking. For example, Magera was unwilling or unable to see that his sexual attraction to children accounted for his offending behavior:

We need to see Magera taking accountability for his actions. Pleading guilty and avoiding trial is not taking accountability. Not all those who suffer the terrible abuse that Magera suffered end up being pedophiles or else it would be a risk factor that Dr. Hupka and other practitioners in this field consider. There's something else here that needs to be acknowledged by Magera that he was partially able to acknowledge in 2009 and is not able to acknowledge right now.

6RP 17-18.

This argument was amply supported by the record. Magera testified that after his 2009 treatment, he discovered that his offending was related to his desire for a relationship with someone who would accept

him. CP 146-147. His "discovery" failed to account for why he chose child victims when peer sexual partners were available. Magera also testified that he was "no longer attracted to children," but in the next breath stated that "it would be so easy, you know to slip back" into offending. CP 296.

When asked if he was open to having a relationship with a person who has children, Magera responded it would make him "nervous" and he would want to disclose his offending history to the person and ensure that the person "still thinks that it's okay." CP 296. Yet, when reciting the risk factors related to re-offense he can recall, Magera includes "I'm not to be in a relationship with somebody who has kids." CP 277. The evidence clearly indicated Magera failed to take accountability for his chronic and pervasive sexual attraction to children and the role it plays in his offending.

Magera likens the State's argument to *Gaff*, where the prosecutor made an improper closing argument. *In re Gaff*, 90 Wn. App. 834, 954 P.2d 943 (1998). While this case is distinguishable, it also fails to support Magera's claim of prosecutorial misconduct. In *Gaff*, the prosecutor argued that the civil commitment process could be a "tool" the jury could use to correct lenient sentences imposed on the respondent in the past. *Id.* at 840. The Court ruled that prosecutors in SVP matters must

take care to ensure their arguments do not suggest that the jury "send a message" about lenient past sentences or confuse juries about their function. *Id.* at 844.

The State made no such arguments in Magera's case. There was no argument or suggestion that any of Magera's criminal sentences had been lenient. In fact, the State explicitly stated to the jury that "we're not here to punish the worst of the worst. . . . That's not what this trial is about. This trial is about mental health." 6RP 55.

Even if the State's argument was improper, there was no improper purpose behind the argument. In *Gaff*, the Court found the prosecutor's improper arguments did not result in a jury verdict that "reflects a desire to punish Gaff rather than protect the public." *Gaff* at 844. Likewise, there is no indication in this record that the jury mistook the State's arguments regarding Magera's lacking treatment skills for an invitation to ignore the evidence and punish him. His argument is without merit.

⁵ Magera claims that the State's argument and Court of Appeals decision run counter to the holdings in *Young*. Petition at 4; *In re Young*, 122 Wn.2d 1, 857 P.2d 989 (1993). He is incorrect. First, Magera cites to a holding in *Young* that the SVP law does not violate ex post facto law and double jeopardy concerns. *See* Petition at 4; *Young* at 21. No such issues are raised in this appeal. Further, even if the cited portion from *Young* (that the SVP "statute is not concerned with the criminal culpability of petitioner's past actions") was applicable to this case, the State's argument was aligned with this Court's finding that the statute's focus on "treating petitioners" and "protecting society." *Young* at 21.

C. The State's Rebuttal Arguments Were Based On The Evidence Presented At Trial.

Magera argues that the State made a closing argument that "was a purposeful effort to stoke the jurors' basest fears and prejudices" and "relied upon matters not in evidence." Petition at 7. He is incorrect. The argument Magera claims constituted prosecutorial misconduct was rebuttal to his closing arguments and based on evidence presented at trial.⁶

In his closing argument, Magera claimed that he did not suffer from pedophilia and, if he was a pedophile, it did not constitute a mental abnormality. 6RP 30, 38, 39, 41. The State rebutted this argument:

So, we have this likelihood [of risk to reoffend] because of a mental disorder. And we know that it's a mental disorder that gives him serious difficulty controlling himself. You imagine a kindergartner, a five or six-year-old. You see a little person who's innocent, bushy tailed, wide eyed, dwarfed by the fifth and sixth graders that go to the same elementary school. You feel the need, the desire, to protect this little child, to nurture them, to shield them from bad things. You talk to a kindergartner about their favorite Disney princess or their latest Lego creation. That's what you do. Magera sees a kindergartner and sees a potential sexual partner. Magera sees a kindergartner and feels sexual urges. He gets aroused. He gets and maintains an erection. Magera talks to a kindergartner about fun-fun and it being our little secret, because if people found out, they wouldn't understand. Five and six-year-olds gave him an erection. Ladies and gentlemen, that is not a normal response. That is mentally abnormal.

⁶ See Ex. A at 4 ("The comments by the prosecutor were either based on evidence in the record and before the jury or they were fair inferences from that evidence.")

6RP 55-56.

The State's rebuttal argument addressed arguments Magera made about his mental condition based on the record. Dr. Hupka testified that Magera's pedophilia was the driving force behind his mental abnormality. 3RP 139, 172. His pedophilia impairs his emotional capacity. 3RP 137. Dr. Hupka explained, "The normal response to children is one of caretaking, being concerned about children," and that, "sexual arousal and sexual desire and wanting to rape children is not a normal part of emotional experience." 3RP 137-138.

An example of this abnormal emotional response is Magera's offenses against E.M. and J.B. Both children were in kindergarten when Magera sexually assaulted them. 2RP 116, 122. Magera's offenses against E.M. included simulated sexual intercourse with ejaculation, oral sex, and fondling that he referred to as "fun fun." 2RP 117-118. Instead of babysitting E.M., Magera assaulted her three to four times a day and convinced her that they were in love and "would run away and get married." 2RP 119-120. The State's rebuttal argument clearly contradicts Magera's arguments with this evidence.

Comparing Magera's trial to the cases he cites reveals that the State's arguments do not constitute misconduct. In *Belgarde*, the

prosecutor, based in part on his own recollection of Wounded Knee, argued to the jury that the defendant was "strong in" a group which the prosecutor describes as "a deadly group of madmen" that "kill indiscriminately," and likening the American Indian Movement members to "Kaddafi" and "Sean Finn" of the IRA. *State v. Belgarde*, 110 Wn.2d 504, 507-508, 755 P.2d 174 (1988). While it is not difficult to see how the language at issue in *Belgarde* constitutes an improper emotional appeal to the jury, the State's argument in this case was based on the evidence and rebutted arguments made by Magera.

In Gaff, the prosecutor equated uneasy sleep and noises in the night to the fear of "someone like" Mr. Gaff. Gaff, 90 Wn. App. at 839. While the Court held that this argument improperly invited the jury to decide the case based on emotional appeals, it concluded that it was not so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it could not have been neutralized via a curative instruction. Id at 841-842. Unlike the fear inspiring arguments at issue in Gaff, the State's arguments in Magera's case described his mental condition.

The jury members in this case were selected, in part, because they demonstrated impartiality and indicated they would not be swayed by emotional appeals. Each potential juror was required to fill out a questionnaire addressing sensitive issues such as a juror's experience with

sexual victimization. 2RP 2. Some jurors were questioned individually, in open court, concerning answers to questionnaire items they preferred to discuss outside the presence of other jurors. 2RP 16. The questionnaire and individual questioning occurred in addition to the voir dire process. In his closing, Magera reminded the jurors that they were selected because they indicated they would follow the law in the case despite strong emotions people have about sex offenders. 6RP 52. Even if the State's rebuttal argument inadvertently made an emotional appeal to the jury, it could not have had any impact on the verdict.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State requests that this Court deny review of the Court of Appeals decision, because Magera fails to present a reviewable issue and the State's arguments at trial were proper.